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REASONS FOR SENTENCE

Overview

[1] On April 23, 2013, following a trial before me, I found _and_

I ity of robbing il ulawfully confining and contrary to
sections 344(1)b) and 279(2) of the Criminal Code. 1 ako found Mr. guilty of uttering

threats to Ms. -to cause death to her, contrary to section 264.1 of the Criminal Code. The
defendants are now before me for sentencing,
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The Facts

Circumstances of the Offences

2] The circumstances of the offences are set out in my reasons for judgment; R v. -
2013 ONSC 2349. In summary, Mr. and Mr. i articipated m a home mvasion style
robbery of Ms.- and her former boyfriend, Mr. i, which took place m Ms. ﬂ
home at ||| . i» the City of Toronto on March 18, 2012, a littke afier 5 p.m Ms.
- was m her kitchen cookmg dmmer. Her four vear old son was sleepmg m the living room
where her three year old daughter and Mr. were watching television. I\[/‘I‘:rh
responded to a knock at the front door and opened when the person at the door identified himself
as . This 18 how Ms. knew Mr. . When she opened the door Mr.-and
three other men pushed ther way mto the house. The other men were known to Ms.- as
-, whom [ found to be Mr.h- . Ms. Peters was pushed
out of the way and by this time Mr. , had pulled out guns. Although the
guns_were not pomted directly at anyone at this time, they were held in a position to shoot and
Ms.- believed them to be real There was no dispute that Mr. was not armed nor
was there any evidence of other weapons.

[3] At trial the Crown alleged that these firearms were real, but I was not satisfied of this and
so will proceed for sentencing on the basis that the fircarms i the possession of Mr.

_ were imitation firearms.

[4] The- appears to have been motivated at least i part by the fact that Mr. -1
was sellng marfjuana from Ms.- home. Once mside the home, Mr. slapped Mr.
in the face and told him that he could not “hustle on our block™. Mr.-ordered Ms.
-and Winto the hiving room. At this time Mr.- and- were going
through Ms. handbag and the cupboards m the kitchen. Mr.- a.nd-then ordered
Ms.ﬁ and M. iinto the basement. Her daughter was crying and Ms. [jjjjjjjtold Mr.
-that she was not gomng to the basement.- then pomted his gun towards her daughter
and told her to “shut the fuck up™. Ms.- testified that her son skpt through the robbery. She
did not suggest that any of the men tried to get lim up or that they spoke to hm.

[5] Mr.- and - brought Ms. to the basement and Ms.-. be]ieved-

was m the basement at this pomt too. Ms. did not go to the basement as directed. Mr.

remamed m the kitchen, rummagmg through the cupboards. Ms. then picked up
her daughter and ran out of the house. She was forced to leave her son behind who was still
sleeping. As she left the house she said she was gomg to call police. No one tried to stop her. The
men had been in her house about five mimutes by this time. She ran to a neighbour’s home and
called 911.

[6] Ms.- did not see the men leave her house but while she was on the phone with the
911 operator she saw them running away. She started yeling at them to bring back her phone.
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Ms.- was concerned about her phone because her mother had just had a stroke and her
phone was the only way her mother could call her.

[7] Surveillance video shows the defendants and the other two young men talking together
outside, east of Ms.-townhouse building, just before the robbery. Given the tming they
must have been discussing the planned robbery. The fact they were all wearmg gloves during the
robbery, in addition to the presence of the mitation firearms, suggests they had already made
some plans to rob Ms.-: before this meetng,

[8] The defendants and the others took Mr. _Wa]let which had all of Ms. - and
her children’s identification m #, her cell phone, Mr. Osman’s cell phone, her kitchen scale and
her camera. Photographs taken by the Scenes of Crime Oflicer show kitchen cupboard doors
open and cushions on the couch m the lving room on end, consistent with the rooms beng
ransacked, but there was no evidence of damage to the home or its contents.

[9] After the robbery, I found that Mr. -ca]led Mr.-telephone and spoke to Ms.
-and that he uttered threats to Ms.-when she answered. He stated on the phone: “you

fucking rat — don’t come to - short form for the- a reference to _]

— I'm gomg to fly vou™ Ms.- testified that the statement ‘T'm gomng to fly you™ meant to
her that he was gomng to kill her or do harm to her.

[10] Mr -Was arrested on March 20", 2012. Although he was observed trying to avoid
police by walkmg quickly and changmg direction, he did stop and when he was asked to
approach one of the arrestmg officers, he did so and did nothing to resist arrest.

[11] Mr.-turned himself in to police on April 2" 2012.
Impact on Ms. Peters, Mr. Osman and Ms. Peters’ Children

[12]  Ms. -was asked to provide a_Victim Impact Statement but chose not to do so. D.C.
MacDonald reported to the author of Mr. -Pre Sentence Report (PSR) that MS-]S

very concerned for the safety of herself and her children f Mr. i released mto the
community. The probation officer was unable to contact Ms. -for her mput but this may

well be why she has not provided an impact statement.

[13]  Although 1t s not clear how seriously Ms. B -oosidered the threats from I

as she did not immediately report the threats to police, afer the robbery she moved as a result of
this mcident and she no longer lives m the _ area. Although she came to the tnal
to testify, I accept that she is still farful of the defendants and the other two men who robbed her
as she reported to D.C. MacDonald and the probation officer.

[14] The best evidence, however, of the impact the robbery had on Ms.- is the 911 call
she made which was mtroduced mto evidence. Ms.- sounded very hysterical on that call

and could barely speak and she was crying throughout the call while the operator kept her on the
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line. Tt was difficult to tell what she was sayng for parts of the call There is no question that the
event traumatized her. Although she did vell afier the men for her cell phone, which may seem
illogical, given her evidence about her mother, this fact does not undermme the emotional impact
of these events that is clear from her voice m this call Similarly, she alo texted Mr.ﬁ a
scathing message flauntmg the fact that he hadn’t stolen the “stash”™. Agam, this does not
undermine the terror she felt at the time of the home nvasion.

[15]  Although I have no evidence of any long term mpact of these events on Ms. -
children, her daughter was crying at the time and was old enough to know that a gun was bemng
pomted at her. Ms.ﬁpointed out that during the 911 call when the operator asked Ms.
I how her daughter was, she said that she was playing at the neighbour’s. It is impossible to
say what to take from this but common sense would suggest that she would not yet have
forgotten what happened.

[16] Fortunately Ms. - son slept through the robbery but he must have been frightened

when Mr. woke him and took him outside to where police officers were arriving in

marked police cars. Even the defendants have now apologzed for the fact that these events

occurred in the presence of small children. Furthermore, & nwst have been difficult for Ms.
to leave her home in these circumstances to call 911 and have to leave her son behind.

[17] Ms.- and the children were fortunately not physically mnjured. Mr.- refused to
talk to the 911 operator or to cooperate with the police or give a statement. An officer who
responded to the 911 call spoke to him and he observed that Mr.- forehead was mjured

and, i particular, there was a bruise. Ms.- testified that she did not observe this njury
before Mr. - went to the basement. In addition, as I have already stated, Mr. - slapped

Mr. - m the face.
Circumstances of [ NN

[18] I received a PSR with respect to Mr. Brown. He Was-years old at the time of the
offences. He is now 23, singlk and has no dependents. He was bom m Toronto and reported a
stable childhood although he was raised only by his mother and never knew his father. He has
three older half-sisters. He reported to the probation officer that he has a “strong respect” for his

mother and sisters for helpng him and struggling to raise him and that he feek bad that he s in
jail and not able to assist his mother.

[19] Mr. _mother reported that due to financial hardshp she sent her son to live with
her cousin in _ between the ages of three and eight when he returmed to Canada and
lived with her. She has been keeping m regular contact with him while he has been m jail and
reports that he has promised her that he will do better upon release and not let her down.

[20] Mr.- attended a number of different high schook but repeatedly dropped out. He
skipped school to smoke marijuana with his friends. He reported to the probation officer that he
has about 22-23 credits of the required 30 credits to graduate from high school. His goal upon
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release from custody is to finish high school In terms of employment, Mr. -reported bemng
a general labourer in the summer of 2011, doing construction at the Rogers Centre. He was not
workmg or gomng to school prior to his arrest.

[21] This 18 Mr.-ﬁrst conviction. Mr.- does not have any misconduct findings
while mn custody to the present.

[22] A character letter was filed on behalf of Mr. -by the Program Manager at the-

_. It confirms that Mr.- was employed as a peer kader m the

as of January 18, 2012. The letter states that they would seriously
consider rchiring Mr. as a peer leader agam for these projects should the opportunity
present itself. Mr. Stastny advised me that the Program Manager s aware of these convictions.

[23] Prior to his mcarceration Mr. - reported to the probation officer that he used
marijuana daily. He feels he needs to stop this use as he realizes that it resulted n his lack of
motivation. He reports bemng an occasional alcohol user. Mr._mother reported that as far
as she knows there are no drug or alkohol concerns. She has never observed her son coming
home mpaired or mtoxicated. The probation officer reports that daily marfjuana use presents as
problematic and that Mr.- would benefit from substance abuse educational programming,

[24] Mr.- reported to the probation officer there were certam aspects of the offence
which he accepted responsibility for and he stated “1 know I did wrong”. He realzes that he has
made poor decisions n his life for the sake of “fast money” and he reported that he is easily
mnfluenced by his friends. His mother reported him as a follower and not a leader and that he was
doing fine until he got caught up with the “wrong company”.

[25] Mr.-, told the probation officer that he has leamed his lesson. He 15 prepared to
make better choices m the future. The probation officer stated m the PSR that Mr. -1
presented as sincere and appears to have the potential to mprove his life m a very positive
manner.

[26] Mr.- made a statement to the court which impressed me as smcere. He apologized
to all parties for his actions; particularly to Ms.- children. He seems to appreciate the
impact that his actions and the actions of the others may have had on them. He recognizes that he
has let down the _ community by failmg to be a role model to the children there
and by drecting them down the “wrong path”. He notes as well the pam and suffering that he has
caused hi mother. Mr. -stated that he takes full responsibility for his actions and that as a
result of the time he has spent ncarcerated, he has changed for the better.

Clircumstances of _

[27] A PSR was also prepared for Mr. Hersi. He was. years old at the time of the robbery.
Mr. Hersi is single and does not have any children. He says he has a grlftiend and that he &
looking forward to having children in the near future.

A
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[28] Mr.- was born in Toronto and grew up in the _ area until the end of

2010 when he moved to the _ area which s about a fiffeen mmnute drive
away. This is where he was living at the time of his arrest. At the time he had a cousin who lved
in [ that be visited two to three times a week and an aunt that tived at ||| Gz

which is also i the area.

[29] _ parents mmugrated to Canada m 1990 from Somalia. His mother told the
probation officer that her husband & currently m Somalia on a busmess trip and she is employed

as a school bus driver. When her husband i m Toronto he is employved as ataxi cab operator.

[30] Mr. -told the probation officer that his formative years were difficult. His family
mitially resided m the _ public housing development and he described his

family’s time i this arca as “rough” He often got mto fights m the neighbourhood and many of
his friends and associates were m smmilar situations.

[31] Mr. - reported that for the most part he has a positive relationship with all his family
members. He has four sblings. He described his mother as a strongly religious woman who
works very hard to provide and care for the family especially in his father’s absences. His mother

has very strict rules regarding alcohol and smokmng mn the family home citng the family’s strict
Muslim religious beliefs.

[32] Mr. Hersi completed Grade 9. He has some Grade 10 courses but did not complete any
further credits n Canada as he left the country. He worked for a brief period at McDonald’s
while attending high school Shortly before these events he was employed at a bakery m Toronto
via atemporary employment agency. He does not have any specialized traming or skills.

[33] Mr. -has a crimmal record as follows:

- Avgust 13, 2011 - Mr.- was found guity of breachmg his recognizance and
sentenced to seven days and five days pre-trial custody.

- December 1, 2011 — Mr. - pleaded guilty to breach of recognizance and received a
suspended sentence, six days’ pre-trial custody and nme months’ probation. The
probation officer reports that this suspended sentence required Mr. to make
reasonable efforts to find and mamtan ganful employment or attend school. Ministry
records mndicate that he was late for every reporting session and did not appear to be
nterested m discussing his personal issues or opportunities to mprove himself. Mr. i
was subsequently arrested for the drug offence referred to below and released on bail

When he was arrested for the offences before this court, he remammed m custody for the
remamder of the probation term.

- August 30, 2012 — While m custody on the charges before this court, Mr.- pleaded
guity to possession of cocame for the purpose of trafficking He recerved an additional
80 day jail sentence and one year term of probation for the offence of possession for the
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purpose of trafficking. Since Mr.- has remained in custody for the present charges
he has not made any progress towards the requirements of this order which expwred on
June 20, 2013. As the conviction and sentence for this offence was affer the offences

before this court were committed, it is only relevant to the question of rehabilitation and
enhanced credit.

[34] Mr. - has been in custody since he was arrested on March 21, 2012. He has been
housed at Maplehurst, the Toronto West Detention Centre (“ITWDC™), the Toronto Jail and the
Toronto East Detention Centre (“TEDC™). Mr.- has committed a number of musconducts
while i custody. Between May 1, 2012 and July 16, 2012, while Mr.- was in Maplehurst,
he was found guilty of committing or threatening to commit an assault on two different mmates.
While he was n the TWDC, Mr. was found guilty of the same offence on three occasions,
all mvolving different mmates, between February 28, 2013 and March 19, 2013. More recently,
while at the TEDC, Mr.-was found guilty of the same offence, agam with different mmates,
on two occasions, once in April and the latest on May 29, 2013. Although Mr. -has spent a
considerable amount of time m the Toronto Jail, from July 23, 2012 to January 17, 2013, there i
no record of any ncidents there. I have no explanation for why that could be given his history of
misconducts at all of the other institutions where he has been held.

[35] Mr.- told the probation officer that he mtially attempted to complkte a
correspondence high school course but lost the provided materials. To date he has not
participated m any nstitutional rehabilitative programs.

[36] Mr.-reported that he began drinking at the age of 16 but he does not feel that his
alcohol use 8 a problem and he has never attended any treatment or counselling m this arca. Mr.

also reported that he began using substances at the age of 16 when his friends mtroduced
him to marjuana. He acknowledged to the probation officer that a number of his convictions are
dmrectly related to substances (which was later challenged by Ms. Kideckel) and he denied that he
needed any help in this area of his life. When discussing the rehabiltation condition of the
current probation order with the probation officer Mr. stated that he was not open to
attending any substance abuse programs and would ‘rehabilitate himself” by staying away from
drugs and negative peers in the future.

[37] Mr. -mother advised the probation officer that upon his rekase from custody she
would ask her husband to send him to Somalia where he would have more family support and
hopefully that would “straighten him out™.

[38] The Toronto Police indicated that Mr.- behaviour was consistent with that of an
individual who was mvolved to some degree with a street gang, References to this were redacted
from the PSR as they are belefs only, not supported by any evidence. 1 have disregarded these
comments.
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[39] Mr. -acknowledged to the probation officer that he was at Ms.- home when
the home mvasion occurred, which is certamly something he denied when he testified at trial but
he mamtained that he was simply there to purchase weed, that he had no prior knowlkedge and
that he had not actually participated in the mncident. He said he felf sorry for the children who
were in the home when the mcident occurred but did not express any remorse for his behaviour
simply statng that he was at the wrong place and got caught up in a situation.

[40] In the PSR the probation officer concluded that given Mr.- lack of
acknowledgment and remorse for his behaviour, the potential to address this behaviour durmg a
period of community supervision i questionable. In his brief crimnal history Mr.-has
presented himself with a lack of respect for court orders as evidenced by his conviction for non-
compliance. The probation officer s of the opmion that Mr.-is not presently ready to
benefit from a further period of community supervision. He concludes that Mr. best
nterests “may best be served in a highly structured environment where he is able to reflect on his
behaviour n this mcident and prepare further for his retum to the community.”

[41] Mr.-made a statement to the court. I was not mpressed with its smcerity. Notably
Mr. - began his statement by saying that this was the longest time that he had been behind
bars. When he is released he wants to go back to school get a part-time job, stay m a positive
role, stay away from negative nfluences and keep himself busy. He took no responsibility for his
behaviour with respect to these offences nor did he make any apologies for it. Although this may
be due to a deswe to preserve his right of appeal, which is Mr. right, I could not conclude
that it constitutes an expression of remorse that should mitigate his sentence.

Legal Parameters

[42] The maximum sentence for a first offence of robbery without a firearm, pursuant to
section 344(1)b) of the Criminal Code, 18 mmprisonment for life; there is no mmimum sentence.
The maxnmum sentence for unlawful confinement pursuant to section 279(2) of the Criminal
Code 15 mprisonment for ten years; there is no minimum sentence. The maximum sentence for

threatening pursuant to section 264.1(2)(a) 1 five years and agam there is no mmimum.

Positions of Crown and Defence

[43] Ms. Stanford submitted that Mr. - should receive a total sentence of about six years,
which s based on the mud-range from R v. Wright, [2006] O.J. No. 4870 (Ont.C.A.). Ms.
Stanford acknowledged that although the primary goals must be denunciation and deterrence,
that rehabilitation cannot be ignored, particularly for Mr. - Ms. Stanford conceded that Mr.

should be entitled to enhanced credit at the rate of 1.5 for every day served. Since April 2,
2012 to the date of the sentencing hearing, he has spent 444 days mn custody. With a credit of
1:1.5 she conceded that Mr.ﬁ is entitled to a credit of 666 days which she said was about
22.2 months, but that assumes all 30 day months. In any event, Ms.- submitted that he
should be sentenced to an additional three years and ten months for an effective sentence of six
years.
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[44]  Mr. Stastny’s position on behalf of Mr.- is that he should receive a sentence close
to two years. He submitted that for Mr. Brown’s circumstances, given the fact he has no erminal
record, given he is a youthful offender, and he had a less central rok, the appropriate range of
sentence i in the two to four years range.

[45] With respect to Mr. -, for a number of reasons, Ms._submif[ed that he
should receive a stiffer sentence. She asked that he be sentenced to a global sentence of eight
years; seven vears for the robbery and unlawful confinement charges and one year consecutive
for the threatening charge. Mr. -has spent 458 days m custody. Fifty of those days related to
his drug conviction on April 30, 2012, resulting n 408 days pre-trial custody or 13.6 months:
this was also cakulated on the basis of 30 days per month. Ms.h submitted that Mr. -

is not entitled to enhanced credit. Accordingly, Ms. Stanford requests an additional six and a half
years for a global sentence of eight years.

[46] Ms. Kideckel on behalf of -i, submitted that _ should receive a sentence
in the range of three to four years and that he should not be sent to the penttentiary.

[47] Ms. Stanford ako requested a mandatory DNA order and a lifetime weapons prohibition

pursuant to section 109 of the Criminal Code for each offender. Neither Defence counsel had any
issue with the requested ancillary orders.

Case Law

[48] Al counsel provided cases to me dealing with sentencng m home mvasion cases m
support of ther respective posttions. In addtion Mr. Stastny provided cases dealng with the
principle of restramt when sentencing youthful offenders. He also prepared a detailed sentencing
chart reviewing the cases which was of much assistance.

Range of Sentence

[49] In Wright, Blar J.A., speaking for the court, noted at para. 13, that home mvasion is a
serious and mcreasingly prevalent crime in our society. He referred to the Court of Appeal’s
decision m R v. S.¢J.) (2006), 210 C.C.C. (3d) 296 where the court observed that home mvasions
are particularly troubling “because they represent a violation of the sanctity of the home and of
the sense of security peopk feel when m ther homes — highly cherished values in our society

e}

[50] Blair J.A. reviewed the range of sentence for home mvasion cases and concluded, at
para. 23, that the cases:

...reflect a gamut of sentencing disposttions in ‘home mvasion’ cases from as low
as four or five years, to as high as cleven to thirteen years — with the suggestion

that even higher sentences may be reserved for situations mvolving kidnappmg,
the infliction of serious injuries, sexual assault or death. Whether a ‘range’ of that

elasticity is of much assistance to trial judges in ther efforts to preserve
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sentencing party for smmilar offences mvolving similar offenders — apart from
signaling that a significant penttentiary jail term is generally called for — s not
clear to me.!

[511 I note that smce we do not know the cases reviewed by Justice Blair, we do not know if
his conclusion as to the range of sentence mcluded cases of youthful fst offenders. However,
Blar J.A. did go on to say that home mvasion cases call for a particularly “muanced approach”
requirmg a careful exammation of the crcumstances of the particular case m question, the nature

and severity of the crimmal acts perpetrated m the course of the home mvasion and the situation
of the mdividual offender.

Whether a case falls within the existing guidelines or range — or...whether it
may be one of those exceptional cases that falls outside the range...—will depend
upon the results of such an exammnation. ... i cases of this nature the objectives
of protection of the public, general deterrence and demunciation should be given
priority, although of course the prospects of the offender's rehabilitation and the
other factors pertaining to sentencing must also be considered. Certamly, a stiff
penttentiary sentence is generally called for. (at para. 24)

[52] As Blar JA pomted out however, it is well settled that ranges are “not embedded mn
stone™ and are guidelines only.

[33] InR v. Cooper, 2010 ONCA 452, Watt J.A. speaking for the court referred (at paras. 89-
90) to the court’s decision in Wright and reaffimed that sentencing “ranges™ such as described mn
Wright are not mmoveabk or mmutable, cautionng agamst the emror of treating Wright as
authority for mposmg a de facto mmmum sentence for the offence of home invasion. Watt J.A.
observed that indwvidual cases may fall withm or outside the range and that mndividual
circumstances matter.

[54]  All counsel agreed that I¥right sets out what the usual range of sentence is for robbery
involving a home mvasion. The central isue is whether or not etther or both of these defendants

ought to be sentenced below that range. For that they relied on cases where the defendants were
sentenced below this range to support therr positions.

Specific Cases relied upon by the Crown
R v Wright

(551 In Wright, five men armed with handguns, wearmg gloves and disguises committed a
home mvasion. The mak complamant, a father, was forced to hand over keys to his business and

! Although in this paragraph Blair J.A. states the range starts as low as four years, at paras. 18 and 21 he refers to
five years as the bottom of the range. T have assumed the bottom of the range established in Wright is four years.
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write out an alarm code and combination for a safe. The court noted that this very serious crime
was planned and targeted. The father, his wife, two children and nanny, were forcibly confined
and terrorized at gunpomt in their home, the father was essentially told that he would be shot if
he did not cooperate and this was in earshot of the rest of the family, mchuding an 11 year old
boy and an older daughter who could hear her father cryng. The victims endured this ordeal for
approximately 45 nunutes and there was no mdication that t would have ended—or ended
before even more harm was done—had the police not arrived. The appellant was a ful

participant in these crimmnal activities and may well have been the perpetrator who directly
threatened the father.

[56] The appellant had pleaded guilty. He was 27 at the time of sentencing and had a prior
record nvolving four convictions for theft, and one conviction for fail to attend court. He was
supported by the mother of his two year old child and by his own mother, as well as by many
friends all of whom viewed the home mvasion conduct as "out of character”. The trial judge had
been mpressed with the remorse the appellant had demonstrated n his statement to the court. At
paras. 29-31, the court on appeal found that the sentence of eight years mposed by the trial judge
was not demonstrably unfit even though this home nvasion was not “in the upper echelons of
home mvasions m terms of...gravity”™.

[571 The circumstances of the offence in Wright are clearly more aggravating than the case at
bar, particularly as handguns were mvolved. Furthermore, the period of unlawful confinement
was much longer, there were spectfic threats made to shoot the father within earshot of his
family and the defendants wore disguises and, of course, the offender was older.

R v. Keays, [2007] O.J. No. 1151 (Ont. C.A)

[58] Very few facts are available from the decikion but it seems that m this home mvasion the
complamants were threatened at gunpomt and held hostage n ther own homes for over an hour.
As the offenders were lkaving, the appellant poured alcohol over the complamants and
threatened to set them on fire. The appellant had taken strides to rehabilitate himself and his
progress was encouraging. The Court of Appeal upheld a sentence mmposed by the trial judge of
six years less 14 months for pre-trial custody.

[539] Ms. Stanford submitted that this decision i the most analogous to the case at bar but I
disagree. Although there are some similaritics, the offence commutted in Keays was clearly more
serious than the case at bar and the court found that the appellant was the mstigator. Threats
made at gunpomnt and the period of confinement was much longer. The conduct at the end which
led to the threat to set the complamants on fire is particularly troubling. There is no evidence as
to the age of the appellant although he had taken strides to rehabilttate himself

[60] Keays is of assistance on another pomt however; the absence of a formal Victim Impact
Statement in the case at bar. In coming to ther decision in Keays, the Court of Appeal noted that
the trial judge took mto account that this was “not a home mvasion on a family or a littk old lady
or people who generally are law-abiding citizens” (at para. 9). The court did not suggest that this
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was not a proper consideration but this seems to be at odds with the Court of Appeal’s decision
in R v. Whalen, 2011 ONCA 74 where at para. 9 the court stated:

There is some suggestion that at least one of the victims was mvolved m the drug
trade. The trial judge seems to have thought that the absence of a victim mpact
statement entitled him to mfer that the wictims had not suffered any “unusual”
harm. This was a terrble experience for anyone to go through and to the extent
that the trial judge minimized the seriousness of the mmpact on the victims because
of ther backgrounds, he was wrong in domg so.

[61] In my view, although I found that Ms.-was complicit m the sak of marjuana from
her home, she 8 no lss deserving of protection from a home mvasion than any law-abiding
citizen. Certamly her children do as well I prefer the views of the court n Whalen. Although the
degree of wvulerability of the victim and the resultng mpact of a crime on that victim may have
some bearmg on sentence, a crime of this nature will have a serious mpact on anyone, regardless
of therr circumstances. The fact there were two voung children m this case makes the mpact
more severe.

R v. Harriott, [2002] O.J. No. 387 (Ont. C.A)

[62] In this case two men (one white mak and one black male) forced ther way nto an
apartment. They were wearing stockings over ther heads and one was wieldng a gun. They told
the husband and wife m the apartment that they wanted to take money, drugs and jewellery. They
led the husband mto the bedroom where they collkected a few pieces of jewellery and the
mtruders took money from both complamnants. At one pomt the wife’s mouth was taped and the
black mtruder told her that if she did not have the jewellery at the count of five he was gomg to
shoot her. As he got to three the other mtruder said they had to leave. The black mtruder then
kicked the wife n the back and she fell to the floor. The mtruders then lefi.

[63] Following a second trial, the trial judge mposed a sentence on the black accused of ten
years from which he deducted about five months. The mam issue on appeal was whether that
was supportable because this sentence was higher than the four years the trial judge in the first
trial sentenced the accused to. The accused also argued that his sentence was unfit as it was
disproportionate to sentences mmposed on the white ntruder and the getaway driver. The Court of
Appeal rejected both submissions and concluded that it could not say that the trial judge had
erred in concluding that the origmal sentence following the first trial was madequate.

[64]  Although this case i helpful on the principle of parity, factually the circumstances of the
offence are much more serious than the case at bar.

R v. /B, [2011]10.J. No. 875 (Ont. S.C.1)

T
(CanlIh

Is]

2 OIS 204 (0
o] u:)ii'ug?‘\x DAL |

201



Page: 13

[65] In this case the female offender was convicted of a robbery mvolving a home mvasion.
The offender had assisted two men to get mto an apartment by proppmg open the side door of the
apartment building with a pop can. The offender had a friend and the friend’s mother living mn
the apartment. The men wore masks, had guns and demanded money and drugs. Both victims
were physically assaulted by pushes, punches and kicks and the apartment was ransacked. The
offender was a first offender with a difficult upbringng. The PSR spoke very favourably of the
efforts the offender had made to rehabilitate herself smce the offence. The court found that
although the offender did not participate diectly in the robbery she was a party to it and more
importantly she orchestrated t and knew or was wilfully blind to the fact that the robbers would
use force against the victims and that a robbery of this nature would inflict severe psychological
damage. Baltman J. concluded that she was reluctant to mterrupt the offender’s meaningful
efforts at rehabiltation by incarceratmg her for a kngthy period but the principle of denunciation
was paramount. She sentenced the offender to four years less pre-sentence custody.

[66] Agan m this case it is significant that the men had guns and there were other serious
factors not present in the case at bar. The offender was a first offender but was 31 years old.
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R v. DOV, [2004] O.J. No. 5825 (Ont. S.C.J.)

[67] In this case Justice Nordheimer sentenced the offender, who had pleaded guilty, to ten
years for robbery with a firearm and unlawful confinement and uttering a threat. The offender
along with two other males had committed a home invasion; each armed with a handgun. In the
home were the male victim, his grlfriend, his mother and three children, one as young as four
years old. The men demanded money, jewellery and drugs and were eventually given a quantity
of money, some jewellery, some cocaine and some marjuana. Throughout the offender
threatened to kill the male victim and repeatedly punched him and hit him with his gun and with
another object. He was waiving his gun around and threatening the male victim m a manner that
Justice Nordheimer concluded put the lives and safety of the children at risk. The offender was
ckarly the ringleader of the mvasion.

[68] The offender was 24 years old, and had a crimmal record dating back to his youth
consisting of convictions for, among other things, assault, aggravated assault, possession of a
weapon, break, enter and thefi and assault with a weapon. His sentences ranged from a
suspended sentence to a fow months m prison. He was on probation at the time of the offence m
question. Nordhemmer J. found little m the way of mitigating factors save that the offender
pladed guilty and apologzed to the wvictims for his actions. Counsel agreed the range of
sentence was between 7 and 13 years. The offender was given a credit of two years for his pre-
trial custody. Nordheimer J. concluded that the robbery was at the more serious end of the scale.
He sentenced the offender to 10 years on the charge of robbery with a firearm, time served on the
forcible confinement charge and on the charge of uttermg a threat, mprisonment of four years
concurrent. The sentences took mto account a credit of two years.

[69] The cicumstances of the offenders m this case are not comparabk to _ n
particular or . The offender’s crimmal record mchided crimes of wviolence and there
were threats to kill with a handgun and the level of gratutous violence used m that case not
found m the case at bar.

[70]  In summary, all of the cases rehied upon by the Crown mvolve the use of real handguns
and home invasions that are arguably more serious for a number of reasons than the home

invasion i the case at bar. Significantly, none ofthe sentences deal with youthful offenders.

Specific Cases relied upon by the Defence

[71]  Mr. Stastny relies on two cases of general principk which he submits apply m this case to

_as a youthful first offender:

R ov. Priest, [1996] 93 O.A.C. 163 (Ont. C.A)

[72] Mr. Stastny relies on this case for the proposition, set out at para. 23, that: “...it 15 a well

established principle of sentencing laid down by this court that a first sentence of mprisonment
should be as short as possible and tailored to the mdividual crrcumstances of the accused rather
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than solely for the purpose of general deterrence. [emphasis added] At para. 17 however, the
cout made it clear that different considerations apply for very serious offences and offences
nvolving vioknce. Clearly home mvasion style robberies come within that exception.

[73] In any event, I do not accept Mr. Stastny’s submission that Priest overrukes Wright as to
what sentencing objectives are considered paramount n a home mvasion style robbery mvolving
a first offender. I do not see a conflict m the two decisions. It & a question of focus. The court m
Wright held that the principles of deterrence and demunciation are paramount in home mvasion
cases. However, Wright alko made it clear that rehabiltation is to be considered when
considering the circumstances of a particular offender. The fact an offender has no record or will
be sentenced for the fwst time to mmprisonment is clearly an mmportant consideration. This was

made clear by Justice Watt m Cooper who observed that no restorative justice objectives were at
work i Wright.

R v. Borde. [2006] 168 O.A.C. 317 (Ont. C.A.)

[74] Mr. Stastny referred to this case m support of his position that in addition to restramt I
should take mto account the fact that Mr. “ are youthful offenders. In
Borde, the accused, an 18 vyear old offender, pkaded guilty to pistol-whipping a victim with a
loaded handgun that discharged. The victim was not mjured by the bullet. The accused had an
extensive and serious vouth record and had recently been mvolved m an meident m which he
fired a handgun mto the awr. He had a difficult background as part of dysfunctional family bemg
raised n poverty by a mother with mental illness. At para. 36 the court stated:

Aside from the gravity of the appellant's crimes, the overwhelming factor is his
vouth... the trial judge erred m principle n focusing almost exclusively on the
objectives of denunciation and general deterrence, given the appellant's age and
that this was his first adult prison sentence and his first penitentiary sentence. The
length of a first pententiary sentence for a youthful offender should rarely be
determmed solely by the objectives of denunciation and general deterrence.
Where, as here, the offender has not previously been to a penitentiary or served a
long adult sentence, the courts ought to proceed on the basis that the shortest
possible sentence will achieve the relevant objectives. [emphasis added]

[73] Again I do not see a conflict m the guidance from the Cowrt of Appeal m Borde and
Wright. In the case of a young offender, or for that matter any offender, Wright does not require
that the court focus solely on general deterrence and denunciation. Rehabilitation is an important
factor to consider where the circumstances warrant such consideration.

[76] Many of the other cases relied upon by Mr. Stastny are from the Ontario Court of Justice.
Ms. Stanford submitted that the cases from the Superior Court generally have mncreased
sentences but having considered the cases that she relies upon, to some extent that may be due to
the fact that they dealt with cases at the more serious end of the scale. It is the case however, that
in most of the cases Mr. Stastny relied upon there were unconditional guity pleas by the
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offender resulting m no requirement m testimony from the complanant at etther the prelimmnary
hearing or the trial. That is a significant mitigatmg factor not present in this case, at least not with
respect to Mr.

[77] Mr. Stastny relies on the following cases m support of his position on the appropriate
range of sentence in this case. Ms. Kideckel adopted his submissions in reliance on these cases.”

R v. Walsh, [2011] 280 O.A.C. 198 (Ont. C.A.)

[78]  The accused was convicted of home mvasion related offences motivated by a search for
drugs and sentenced to 18 months jail afier a pre-sentence custody credit of two years based on 1
to 1.6 for time spent n a treatment facility, plus 3 years’ probation. This was an effective
sentence of three and one half years. There is no statement as to the age of the accused, who had
a crmmal record including four pententiary sentences. He was a self-described addict who had
made extraordinary progress in rehabiltation while residing at a treatment faciity whik on bail
No Victim Impact Statement was filed.

[79] At para. 11, the court found that the sentence mposed was outside the normal range of
five years and up for a home mvasion robbery. The court determmed that the trial judge had
erred m his determination of pre-sentence custody and m focusing on rehabiltation at the
expense of general deterrence and denunciation. The court held that an appropriate sentence
would be eight years. However, at paras. 13-14, the court noted that they had had the benefit of
fresh evidence with respect to the offender’s rehabilitation that put this case:

...mto a very rare category. The fresh ewvidence confirms his unusual and
exceptional efforts at rehabilitation and the contmued success of those efforts...In
the wvery particular circumstances of this case...gven the rehabiltative progress
Walsh has made and the fact that he i out in the community now and contnuing
not only to respond well but ako to assist others facing drug-related problems -
we are not nclined to mterfere with the sentence mposed.

[80]  Ms. Stanford relies on the language found m these passages to suggest that T must find
exceptional circumstances to justify sentencing these offenders outside the range established by
Wright and that that result should be rare. However, these statements need to be considered m
context m that the Court of Appeal was considermg a sentence mposed by the trial judge that
was less than half of the sentence the court considered appropriate for that case.

2 Mr. Stastny included R. v. Thomas, 2012 ONSC 6653 (Ont. S.C.I) in support of his position on the appropriate
sentence but I do not find this case of any assistance as the accused was a police officer who was cut off m traffic
and in course of arresting the other driver, struck the victim causing bodily hamm. For various reasons, most of which
are not found m the case at bar, the court, relying on Wright and Cooper, found that this was an exceptional case
requiring a sentence outside the normal "range" .

=l 1D

o\
L

394

Q2 OIS 272
o] u:)ii'u‘?‘\x D

201



Page: 17

R. v. Cooper, 2010 ONCA 452

[81] Two accused aboriginals, Jacko and Manitowabi, along with 2 others aboriginal persons,
pushed ther way mto the victims' apartment, beat the victims, and took the wvictims' property.
One of the other two aboriginal persons pressed a knife to the neck of the female victim. Both
accused were convicted of home invasion related charges and sentenced to concurrent terns of
mprisonment of four years on each count.

[82] The accused Jacko, a status Indian, was 19 at the time of offence. He had a criminal
record that mcluded crimes of wviolence. The relationship between Jacko's parents was abusive
and dommnated by assaults and excessive alkohol consumption. Jacko suffered “excessive
physical discipline at home” The court found that the home mvasion offence proved to be an
“epiphany” for Jacko; he made significant progress m rehabilitation while on bail release.

[83] I have already set out why the Court of Appeal concluded that the trial judge erred by
treatmg the range of sentence discussed n Wright as imposing a de facto mmimum sentence for
these offences. Justice Watt noted that the sentencing objectives of deterrence and denunciation
were paramount i Wright and that no restorative justice objectives were at work m Wright,
unlke the case before him where their mfluence i profound, at kast in the case of Jacko.

[84] As to what the sentences ought to be, Watt J.A. commented on the seriousness of the
offences incliding the fact there was a plamned entry, lootmg and robbery, facial disguises,
except for Manitowabi, albett madequate to ther task of preventing identification, use of a
weapon, physical violence and threats and knowledge or at least recklessness that the premises, a
home, was occupied at the time of the forced entry.

[85] Watt JA. held that although the sentencing objectives of denunciation and deterrence
were destined to occupy positions of prommence in the sentencing decision, restorative justice
sentencing objectives were of crucial mportance n the crcumstances. He stated at para. 87 that:

In cases such as these, we must do more than smmply acknowledge restorative
justice sentencing objectives and note approvingly the rehabiltative efforts of
those convicted. They must have some tangble impact on the length, nature and
venue of the sentence mposed. The rehabiltative efforts here, more specifically
those of Jacko, extend well beyond the promises made all too frequently between
conviction and sentence, and all too mfrequently executed and maintamed m the
days, weeks and months follbwing mposition of a lenient sentence.

[86]  For these reasons Justice Watt concluded that an appropriate sentence for Jacko was two
years less one day to be served in the community (conditional sentences were still permissible at
this time).

[87] As for Manitowabi, he was 18 at the time of the offence and had a criminal record that
included crimes of violence. He reoffended while on bail and served a jail sentence for robbery
and disguise with mtent. Justice Watt observed that he had not been either persistent or
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consistent m his efforts at self-rehabilitation and that what was more predictable was the
likelihood of recidivism. He concluded that an appropriate sentence was two years less one day
to be served m a provincial reformatory. (at paras. 103-104)

[88]  Although the fact that the offenders in this case were aborignal was an mportant factor
on sentencing, what this case does clearly demonstrate is that the circumstances of the mdividual
offender are mportant and where the circumstances justify it, the principks of restorative justice
and rehabilitation can have a profound mmpact on determmmng the appropriate sentence and take a
case outside the range of sentence described m Wright.

R ov. Whalen, 2010 ONSC 2719 (Ont. S.C 1), affrmed Court of Appeal, 2011 ONCA 74

[89]  Mr. Stastny submutted that this case was the most similar to the case at bar. The accused,
May and Whalen, and two other persons (Bello & Argueta), were mvolved in a heavily armed
home mvasion in search of drugs and cash in which a whole family (mother, three sons, and one
of the son’s girlfiiends) were detaned, assaulted and terrorized m ther home. Weapons used
included a firearm or imitation firearm, hammer (May), machete (Bello) and crowbar (Argucta).
One victim fatally shot the assailant Bello with a fircarm. Taliano J. found that the firearm likely
was already m the home. Argueta and May attempted to escape the scene mn the getaway car;
Whalen was waiting as the getaway driver. Neither May nor Whalen were in the room when the
shooting occurred. They were stopped by police and arrested.

[90] Both May and Whalen pleaded guilty. They were both released on restrictive bail and
made significant strides at rehabiltation while on release m work, education and counseling
Taliano J. held that given that the offenders were young, the principk of restramt remamed a
necessary consideration on sentencing,

[91] May who was 20 at the time of sentencing had a “serious crminal record” including
convictions for arson and two robberies. His PSR indicated he was “seriously deprived by his
upbringing” by parents who had mental health issues and admitted that they abandoned ther
parental responsibilities to ther son. Whalen was 22 and ako had previous record of offences
including possession of narcotics and a weapon and breach of bail He too had what was
described as a turbukent childhood with no support or relationship with his father.

[92] May was sentenced to two years less a day and Whalen was sentenced to a 21 month
term of mprisonment, m both cases after unstated credit for pre-trial custody and strmgent bail
terms. In addition, probation for a period of three years was imposed on each offender.

[93] On appeal the court upheld these senmtences. At para. 8, the court concluded that
sometimes the proper exercise of discretion by a trial judge takes a sentence “out of the range”
and that the trial judge who saw substantial potential for rehabilitation for both of these young
men and found that there was a real opportunty for them to become productive law-abiding
citizens, had properly exercised his discretion.
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[94] I agree with Mr. Stastny that there are many similarities between this case and the case at
bar. Save for the fact no children were present; the circumstances of the home mvasion appear to
be more serious. As I will come to, the case has more relevance m sentencing

R v. Barnes, [2006] O.J. No. 5163 (Ont. S.C.J.)

[95] The offender and three other men, wearing masks, forced ther way into a residence at 11
p.m. at night. One of the men was brandishing a handgun. The residents of the home were a
husband and wife and thewr children aged three and several months. It is not clear but it seems
that only the husband and wife were forced mto ther dining room where the men demanded ther
money and credit cards. They were tied up and forced to sit while the men ransacked ther home.
It s not clear what happened to the children. The men, other than the offender, took turns
pomtmng the handgun at the complainants and told them to be quict or they would be hurt. It
could not be established that the handgun was real but the victims believed it to be real A victim
impact statement set out the devastating impact this offence had on the victims both emotionally
and financially.

[96] The offender was 21 years of age and he pleaded guilty to charges of robbery and
unlawful confinement. He was born n Jamaica and moved to Canada at age one with his mother
and had never had any sustamed contact with his father. His mother remained supportive of him.
He had a two year old son and had been workmg for his unck on weekends as a licensed
mechanic. Justice Durno was satistied that he was remorseful and he was a first offender. Dumo
J. considered the absence of potentially aggravatng factors mcluding the fact the offender was
not the prime mover m organzmg the offence and the offence did not mvolve gratuitous
violence as occurred n some of the other cases. The court noted the obvious aggravating factors
of the use of what the victims believed to be a real handgun (I presume that as m the case at bar
he did not find that t was m fact a real firearm), the forcible entry mto ther home, the mpact on
them as reflected m the victim mpact statement, the fact there was some planning and
deliberation, the fact motivation was pure profit, and the fact two children were in the house.
Dumo J. considered the most disturbing aspect to be the fact that this house was randomly
selected and he observed that unlike many offences of this nature & was not a home targeted
because of crimmal activity aleady occurrmg in the house perhaps m the hopes the wictins
would not call police. In addition the offender at the time of the offence was on a bail release
order that requred him to hve with his surety and observe a curfew. Durno J. sentenced the
offender to four years less pre-sentence custody for which he was credited seven months.

[97] Justice Dumo’s decision was decided before Wright. He did refer however, to the Court
of Appeal’s earlier decision of R. v. Ferreira, [1997] O.J. No. 799 (Ont. C.A.) where the court
held that the appropriate range for home mvasion cases was between five and eight vears.
Because the offender did not have a crimmal record, and because a co-accused who had a youth
court record for vioknce and for robberies had been sentenced to the equivalent of a five vear
sentence less a credit of one year pre-sentence custody, Durno J. concluded that a sentence of
four years would be appropriate, less pre-sentence custody for the robbery/unlawful confinement
charge.
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[98]  Although this case was in the Crown’s brief, Mr. Stastny relies on it as establishing the
upper end of the range of sentence he submits applies m the case of Mr.- I agree with him
that the role of the accused was similar to the role of Mr.-in that at paras. 21-22 the court
stated:

A sentence must be proportionate to the gravity of the offence, here the charges
are most serious, and the degree of responsibility is also high, albeit he was not
the leading party. He was an active participant, not mn the vioknce but certainly n
gomg mto the home and then m attempting to collect the money. He knew at least
when he got to the home what he was there to do. He became mvolved and
continued with the activity...I have to consider as well that he had not been to jail
at the time of the commussion of the offences, his age and that his rehabilitation is
alkko arelevant factor.

[99] Mr. Stastny argues that m Barnes the four year sentence was motivated in part by what
was described as a devastating Victim Impact Statement and the fact that the offender had been
convicted three times since the date of the offence before the court had been committed. For
these reasons he submits that the sentence n this case for Mr. Brown should be less. I have
already commented on the absence of a Victim Impact Statement but agree with Mr. Stastny that
the post offence conduct of the offender n Barnes makes the case more serious than that of Mr.
Brown. Otherwise, apart from the fact that this was a random attack, there are many similarities

and so I do find this case helpful m determming a sentence for both Mr. _

[100] The cases from the Ontario Court of Justice relied upon by Defence counsel are as
follows:

R._v. Brown, 2012 ONCJ 564°

[101] The accused and three other malkes, all disguised, broke mto and ransacked an empty
apartment. On the same day, the accused and same three males knocked on the door of a
different apartment m a different buldmng and forced ther way mto the apartment. The group
was ammed with a twelve mch “silver blade knife”. Monies were demanded from two victims
(father and son) and both were assaulted and directed to le face down on a bed mn the apartment.
The wvictims were told not to look at the group and that if they calked the police the offenders
would come back and shoot them. The home was ransacked for valuables.

[102] The accused, who was 20 years old, pleaded guity. He had a mmor crimmnal record
including some sexual offences as a youth where he received two years” probation, and one adult
conviction for assault causmg bodily harm, where he received a suspended sentence and two
years” probation. The accused grew up without a meaningful relationship with his biological
father and had grown up m a subsidized housing community where “drug use, violence, and
other crimmal behaviour” were common. While mcarcerated the accused completed programs

¥ Alsocited as R. v. D.B.
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for anger. The court, afier taking mnto account the sixteen months pre-trial custody served,
imposed a sentence of an additional twenty months to be served in a provincial reformatory
facility for the robbery and ten months to be served concurrently for the break and enter theft in
addition to two years of probation on terms which mcluded management for substance abuse.

R v. Chung, 2012 ONCJ 275

[103] The accused was a party to a home mvasion with three other males. Several of the parties
were masked and one of the assailants was armed with a crowbar. One of the nmaks broke a
window to the residence with a long metal rod, and the three other males, mcluding the accused,
followed mto the residence through the broken window. A struggle ensued with occupants of the
home on the upper level The occupants of the home were tied up with plastic zip ties. When the
alarm went off the assailants fled the residence.
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[104] The accused pleaded guilty. He was 19 with no erimmal record. He had support from his
family and community demonstrated by numerous letters on his behalf. The accused had
complied with restrictive bail conditions for two vyears during which he had completed
community service work and enrolled at Seneca College while on bail. The PSR was “excellent”
and the accused “demonstrated significant empathy for and understandng of the victim’s
suffering”™.

[105] The court concluded that the appropriate sentence fell outside the range of sentence
described mn Wright and sentenced the accused to two years less one day m a provincial
reformatory and two years probation.

R v. Whitaker, 2011 ONCJ 178

[106] The accused and two other men entered a duplex lookmng for a second floor resident who
was apparently known to them. The leader of the group was armed with a sword and all three
were masked. Two first floor residents; a man and a woman, were assaulled. The woman
suffered a broken nose. The accused was “not the apparent leader of the trio”. He stoke a bike and
rode off. The accused had an extensive youth record including convictions for robbery, disguise
with mtent, and assault with weapon. He was subject to two youth court probation orders at the
time of the offence.

[107] The accused pleaded guity. He was 19 years old at the tme of sentencing The PSR
relied upon from a previous youth sentencing indicated a concern of the accused’s pattemn of
violence, identifying the danger he represented to the community in which he resided. He had a
problem with alcohol and came from a dysfunctional family with serious substance abuse
problens. His lack of education and employment led him to selling drugs for a living, The court
was hopeful that his anticipated period of mcarceration would help him complete his high school
education, learn a trade and deal with his substance abuse issues. It was the accused’s first adult
sentencing,

[108] The court was of the view that there was nothing n his background and prior behaviour
that would bring him within the purview of etther Cooper or Whalen and was of the view that his
“prior crimmnal history 1 a depressmg demonstration that he is mtransigent m his behaviour and
commitment to crimmality. His hope for rehabiltation is generic and based upon his age rather
than his demonstrated behaviour”. (at para. 42) Although a penttentiary term would be a fit
sentence, mn light of the accused’s age and time spent m custody and the fact the sentence would
be his first federal sentence, the court sentenced the accused to a further two vears after taking
into account a pre-sentence credit of seven and a half months, followed by three years of
probation.

R. v. Shirley, 2009 ONCJ 266

[109] The accused was convicted after trial of home nvasion related offences. He and another
person attempted to break and enter a dwelling house while masked. The accused was confronted
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by the homeowner, who held him down for police afier having been struck with a hockey stick
by the second assailant multiple times. The accused was found to have had a steel bar secreted n
his pant kg In his statement to police the accused stated that a fiiend and his grifriend had
mvited him to the home of a man "who was m the business”. The woman reported that the
homeowner kept drugs and money in the house. The accused and the other person entered the
home to steal property. The court found that the home mvasion was so ill-conceived and poorly
executed to be of relevance in demonstrating the accused's lack of sophistication and the relative
danger posed by the assailants and that these facts distinguished the case from the others drawn
to his attention by counsel

[110] The accused was a youthful offender although his age was not spectfied. At the time of
the offences he was on a conditional sentence in respect of drug offences. His PSR was “not a
good one”. The accused had had the benefit of a loving and supportive family but lacked stable
employment. He had made no dedicated effort to furthermg his education and presented as
unmotivated and unwilling to commit to makmng any positive changes mn his life. He exhibited
little remorse and the court was of the view that there was a strong likelhood that he would
reoffend.

[111] The court considered the fact that the accused was not a first offender, but that he was a
young one, not only because of his age but by reason of his relative immaturity. The court
accepted the propostion that as a result, m exercising the principk of restramt, that the accused
should not be sent to the pententiary and even though the accused had absconded and was
sentenced in absentia, sentenced hm to 21 months m jail and one year probation.

R v. Stansbury, 2007 ONCJ 668

[112] In this case the accused pleaded guilty to three counts of breaking and entering a dwelling
to commit robbery and conspracy to commit breaking and entering The accused was the driver
for a series of highly organized, brutal home mvasions that included use of firearms and
degrading sexual assaults. The accused did not enter any mvaded homes but participated in
driving other members of the conspiracy to banks. The court found that although he may not
have known that the female complanants would be sexually assaulted, he had to have known
from the outset that the chances of the degree of violkence which would be used were very high.

[113] The accused was a 22 year old first offender and had complied with strict bail conditions.
His behaviour was considered shocking and out of character and he produced multiple character
references from all aspects of his hfe. The accused was providing evidence at trials of other
conspiracy members, which was a signfficant factor in mitigation. The court ako found it
significant that given the offender’s age, and m the mterests of his rehabiltation that he not be
exposed on his first mcarcerate term to the pententiary stream. The court concluded that as a
result of several factors the sentence to be mposed should be outside the range set out m Wright.
The court accepted the Crown’s posttion and sentenced the accused to two years less one day, in
addition to one month pre-trial custody.
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[114] Mr. Stastny argued that the circumstances of the offences in this case were more serious
than the case at bar and 1 agree with that submission, not only because of the degree of viokence
used and the presence of firearms, but also in light of the fact that the accused was bemg
sentenced to three home nvasion styk robberies. In my view the fact that this sentence was
proposed by the Crown, presumably because the accused was testifying as a Crown witness,
makes this case unreliable as a comparator. Based on the cases referred to me by counsel it
seems well outside the range that T would find to be reasonabk given the role of this offender n
the three home mvasions, notwithstanding his early plea, his youth and the other factors relied
upon. [, therefore, do not find this decision of assistance.

Principles of Sentencing

[115] The principles of sentencing are set out m ss. 718, 718.1 and 718.2 of the Criminal Code
and T am guided by those principles. The most fundamental principle i proportionalty m s.
718.1; the fitness of the sentence must reflect the gravity of the offence and the degree of
responsibility of the offender.

Detemmination of a Iit Sentence

[116] In considering the sentence to be imposed on each of these offenders I am mndful of the
fact that they should each be considered mdividually as ther mndividual crcumstances and ther
roles n the home mvasion are quite different. Mr. Stastny referred me to the Court of Appeal
decision of R. v. Couriney, 2012 ONCA 478 where on appeal the appellant conceded that as
compared to his companion he should have received a longer custodial sentence but, relying on
the party principle, argued that the disparty m sentences was extreme. The court held, relving
on R v. Ipeelee, [2012] S.C.J. No. 13 (S.C.C.), at paras. 78 to 79:

...that the parity principle does not require that all co-accused be subject to the
same sentence, or even that they be treated smilarly for sentencing purposes. On
the contrary, disparate sentences for different offenders, for the same offence, do

not violate the parity prmcpk so long as they are warranted by all the
circumstances.

Common Aggravating Ieatures

[117] Ms. Stanford did not refer to section 348.1 of the Criminal Code, which provides that in
certam circumstances a home mvasion m relation to a dwellng house 8 an aggravating
circumstance. The requrements set out m the section apply to the facts of this case as I found
them. This provision is consistent with the authorities as summarized by the Court of Appeal in
Wright that the very nature of this offence, which wviolates the sanctity of one’s home, i an
aggravating factor.

[118] In my view the follbwmg facts are ako aggravatmg factors relevant to the sentence of
both defendants m this case:
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Although the plannmg for the robbery may not have been elaborate or
sophisticated, the robbery was not a spur of the moment idea. The defendants met
just before the robbery and were clearly m conversation based on the surveillance
video. Three of them were armed at least with an mtation firearm and they all
wore gloves once they entered Ms. -home, not something one would expect
them to have on hand at the end of April. It was a targeted home mvasion planned
to both give Mr. - a warning and to steal drugs and money. This means that
they must have at least discussed the idea before this meeting,

The defendants knew, from the answer to the knock on the door by Mr. -, that
at least Ms.-was home. They knew Ms.- and must have known she had
two very young children. They either must have known that the children would be
with her or were reckless to that likelihood.

Three of the men had firearms and pulled them out as soon as they were m the
home. Although I am proceeding on the basis that the fircarms were imitation and
not real, Ms. believed them to be real

Two young children were present. When Ms.- daughter started to cry she
was threatened with a fircarm held by-.

Mr.- was slapped by Mr.-and then suffered a further mjury in the
basement which must have been mflicted by Mr.- or- or but i any

case i Mr.- presence. ‘The mjuries were not significant but gratuitous

vioknce was used. Although Mr. was present for the slap he was never m
the basement.

I have already summarized the impact on MS.- and her children. Ms.-
was clarly traumatized by the home mvasion as evidenced by the 911 call and
notwithstanding her failure to provide a formal Victim Impact Statement, I am
satisfied that this event not only caused her to mowve to another neighbourhood but
also had a significant mpact on her. As for her daughter, hopefully she will not

suffer long term harm but she was understandably very frightened durng the
ordeal

Common Lack of Aggravating Factors

[119] 'There are aggravating factors found n some of the cases referred to me by counsel not
present i this case as follows:

a)

The home mvasion was relatively short; T would say in the range of seven mmnutes
based on the fact that Ms. left after five mmutes and saw the defendants
running away while she was on the 911 call.
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b)  The defendants and the others were not masked or disguised. That said, this is not a
mitigating  factor as they were clearly not hiding ther identity because they did not
expect Ms.- or Mr. -to call the police. I do not accept Mr. Stastny’s
argument that the fact these men were known to Ms. Peters made it less terrorizing
for her.

¢)  Nether _ were tied up m any fashion.

d) No express threats were made to shoot anyone although the fact-pointed his
firearm at Ms. daughter would certamly have been mterpreted mn that
manner by her and Mr. -

Determination of a Fit Sentence for _

[120] Having considered some of the common aggravatmng factors, I turn to a determination of
what 1 a fit sentence for _ I begin by considering his role i the robbery as compared
to the others and in particular ||

[121] _ enabled the group to have access to_ home and clearly participated
as a principal in the robbery. Once the men were inside [ Gz house,_ sole role
was searching the kitchen. He must have been the person who took most, if not all, of the ittems
that were stolen. Although _ did not participate in any threats, did not have a firearm or
order anyone to go to the basement, given that the mam floor of this home s quite small, and
given the layout, he nmust have heard all the conversations and been able to observe what was
gong on between _ _ and the other men. As such he witnessed the fact that
guns were drawn mside the home, the slap of _ face, Mr. threatening Ms.
B dauchter and v R ordermg” and Mr.- downstairs to the basement.
He did nothng to mtervene and did not kave the home. The evidence, however, suggests that
_Was certainly not the ring leader. There s no evidence of him giving any directions to
anyone.

[122] At trial Mr. Stastny argued that _Was not a party to the unlawful confinement
charges but I did not accept that submission as he must have known that it was intended that they

would rob _ and he knew that she and lkely her children and possibly others were
home when they forced their way mto her home. On this basis I found that had a jomt

mntention with the other young men to unlawfully confine _ once mside

the home.

[123] Mr. Stastny submitted that _should be considered like the getaway driver. This
submission however, ignores the fact that he was actually n the house and performed a key rok
in the robbery. Furthermore, he was the oldest of the four young men by at least two years and
should have been the more mature and responsible one. He saw what was happenng and did
nothing to mtervene. He continued n his efforts to steal property from ﬂand although
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he took no steps to prevent her from lkaving, he did nothing to distance himself from what was
happening

[124] Tummg to the mitigating factors, although _did not plead guilty, Ms. Stanford
confirmed that ||ij made an offer to plead guilty before the trial to robbery simpliciter

and that offer was rejected. Mr. Stastny submitted that this s relevant to_ remorse in
that he was found guilty of a charge he was prepared to plead to in that he did not dispute that he
was at the robbery but without a firearm. Ms. Stanford fawrly conceded that there was what
counsel termed a “constructive guilty plea” to the robbery charge but she submitted that there
was no constructive guilty plea to the forcible confinement charge. She ako argued that Mr.
-position did not become clear n the tral until sometime after _grestiﬁed. That
is true but as Mr. Stastny submitted, he never suggested to [ dwing his cross-
exammation that she was Ilyng about what happened. The only challknge he made was on her
evidence with respect to not dealng drugs from her home. With respect to the forcible
confinement charge, the issues were legal ones not factual _never disputed the facts or
his role. For these reasons I agree with Mr. Stastny that there was a constructive guilty plea to the
offences _ has been convicted of and that this i a signficant mitigatmg factor for
sentence.

[125] Mr. Stastny submitted that Mr. Brown could not be released on bail as Justice Trafford
wanted his mother to supervise him at all times which was not possibk as she works full-time as
a personal care worker. He argued that because Mr. -Was denied bail he had less ability to
rehabilitate hmself pending trial He submitted that there are thmgs he could have done but not
to the same extent as had he been released on bail T accept this submission to some degree but
there is no evidence before me as to what, if any, programs _ could have participated n
while n custody before the trial and why he did not participate m them. I would find
significant, for example, if there was evidence that he tried to complete his high school credits
but was unable to because of a lack of resources in the remand centres where he was being held.
I do not have the concrete steps taken towards rehabilitation by offenders pending trial found m
many of the cases referred to by Defence counsel. I do recognize that such steps are easier to
take 1if a defendant has been rekeased on bail but I am concered there i no evidence of even any
attempts by _to participate m programming while n custody. The best evidence of the
potential for his rehabilitation, therefore, comes from the PSR.

[126] Ms. Stanford submitted that _ PSR is “more neutral” and she questioned
whether he took real responsibility for the offence and harm to _ She saw the PSR as
including a lot of blaming his peer group and not too much taking responsibility for the offence. 1
agree that there is some of this although there is no question that a young person’s choice of
friends can be a postive or negative mfluence. I would say, however, that the PSR report is
positive and it is notable that the probation officer believes that_presented as smeere
and that he appears to have the potential to improve his hfe in a very positive manner. As already
stated, I came to the same conclusion hearing_ brief statement to the court. T am
satisfied that there i a real potential for rehabilitation m this case that must be comsidered m
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imposing sentence. There also appears to be a need to deal With_ admitted daily use
of marjjuana before he was mcarcerated, as recommended by the probation officer.

[127] Mr. Stastny put some emphasis on the fact that _ grew up without a father
figare, as if that could explamn his conduct. There 1, however, no significant evidence of an

unstable upbringmg apart from when _Was very young. He clearly has a strong bond
with his mother who continues to support him. There i no suggestion of a dysfunctional family
environment, quite the oppostte. I, therefore, did not consider this to be a mitigating factor.

[128] There are a number of additional mitigating factors to consider with respect to _
as follows:

a)  Although _ was the oldest of the group of four young men, he was only
21 at the time of the offences and is now 23. He is a youthful offender.

b)  These convictions are _ﬁrst convictions. That does irovide support for

Mr. Stastny’s position that this conduct was out of character for
c) _ conduct i custody also speaks to his potential for rehabilttation.

[129] I turn then to what is an appropriate sentence for_in this case. Ms. Stanford
submits that those factors require a penitentiary sentence mn this case in the range of six years.
Mr. Stastny argues that [[Jlj should be sentenced outside the range to something close to a
two year sentence.

[130] Clearly m light of Wright, denunciation and general deterrence are significant factors to
consider. This was a home mvasion at perhaps the lower end of the scale as although it mvolved
what_be]ieved to be a real fircarm, that was not proven. Nevertheless it was still a
very serious offence. A strong message must be sent by the court expressing sockety’s
abhorrence and that this type conduct will not be tolerated by the courts. Given the contmued
prevakence of this type of crime that message does not seem to be gettmg through.

[131] In this case, however, I have a youthful first offender who has taken some responsibility
for his actions by not disputing his role m the home mvasion and he has expressed remorse. 1
have concluded that there s a real prospect of rehabilitation. 1 accept the position of Mr. Stastny
that _should not be sent to the penttentiary. This has been the first time that Mr.

has been mn custody and he has already been m custody for almost 15 months. As 1 will
cone to, he will be given 22 months credit for that time.

[132] Although none of the authorities that T have been referred to are on all fours with the
circumstances of _, I do find the decision of Dumo J. m Barnes and the decision of
Taliano J. m Whalen to be helpful The Barnes decision is somewhat dated and does seem to be
at odds with the decisions provided to me from the Ontario Court of Justice. One explanation
may be that no firearms, real or mitation, were used i any of those cases, save for Stansbury,
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although there was significant use of other types of weapons and wviolence n many of those
cases. [ have already explained why I do not find the Stansbury case to be helpful

[133] It s mpossible to determme the sentence m Whalen before the credit for pre-sentence
custody but the sentence was lkely m excess of two years. As for Barnes, m mposmng a
penitentiary sentence of four year less pre-sentence custody, for a vyouthful offender, Justice
Dumo concluded, at paras. 29-30:

[ am not persuaded that a reformatory sentence, even with the pre-sentence
custody would adequately reflect the gravity of this offence, the offender’s degree
of responsibility nor would it be consistent with the purposes and principles of
sentencing, On this record I cannot conclude n terms of the subnussions that were
presented to me that it would be better m all the crcumstances of the case for this
young man to be sentenced to the reformatory. While bemng close to his family i
a concern, it does not override the gravity of the offence and the need to deter
others. It would also ignore the sentences mposed for smmilar offenders who had
committed similar offences. While he i young and a penitentiary term should be
avoided if it is reasonable to do so, I hawe concluded that a penitentiary term is
required. ...the sentence must still reflect the very serious nature of the home
invasion offence.

[134] I agree with the observations of Justice Durno although as I have said, I find the
circumstances of the home mvasion robbery n his case to be more serious than the case at bar,
particularly in so far as _ is concerned. In considering all of the cases referred to me,
the submissions of counsel and the aggravating and mitigating factors that I have set out, I hawe
conme to the conclusion that a fit sentence for Mr. for the robbery conviction & two and a
half years, less pre-sentence custody followed by a two year period of probation. A concurrent
sentence of two years on the unlawful confinement conviction will also be imposed. As a resul,

_Wi]l have eight months left to serve.

[135] I appreciate that this sentence is well below the sentence requested by Ms. Stanford. I am

satisfied however, for the reasons stated, particularly in light of_ constructive guilty
plka, his expression of remorse and the fact he is a first time youthful offender that his sentence
should be outside the range of sentence setout in HWright.

Determination of a Fit Sentence for _

[136] I turn then to my determination of a fit sentence for - | begln by considering his
role m the robbery and unlawful confinement of]

[137] Mr.-conceded nothng during the trial and fought all ssues. He denied using the
njckname-and denied participating in any robbery of h He took
the position that Ms. was either mistaken or lyng when she picked him from a photo line-
up. [ a0 denicd making any threats to ||l and testified that the phones found in
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his possession belonged to someone with the nickname Kid. T did not accept that evidence and
found that he participated as a principal m the robbery and unlawful confinement of
and_ and that he threated _ as she alleged on the 19" of March. He was, of
course, entitlked to require the Crown to prove its case agamnst him but he can receive no credit of
the type afforded to _ for a constructive guilty plea.

[138] Furthermore, as compared to _, _ played a more significant role n the
robbery and the unlawful confinement. He had a firearm that appeared to be real, he slapped Mr.

- and s the one who told him to stop hustlng on ther block and he ordered and
into_the living room and then into the basement. He was present when|Jjjjj pomted
his gun at daughter and when the further injury to ||l occured i the

basement. The evidence suggests that - was at last one of the ring leaders, if not the
main one. The threatenng conviction i alko an aggravatmg factor but as 1 mtend to mpose a
separate sentence for that offence, I will not consider this as an aggravating factor for the robbery
and unlawful confinement sentences.

[139] In addtion to the common aggravatng factors already stated, I find the fact that Mr.
was on a suspended sentence and a probation order resulting from his December 1, 2011
conviction for breach of recognizance when he was arrested for possession for the purpose of
trafficking, to be an aggravating factor m this case. Although his crminal record could be
characterized as minor and _does not have a criminal record for crimes of wviolence, as
Ms. Stanford submitted, his record does demonstrate a disregard for the authority of the court.
The fact that he was late for every reporting session followmg his December 2011 conviction i
consistent with this and suggests a lack of any motivation to rehabilitate himself. Furthermore, he
committed the offences before the court while he was released on bail after bemg charged with
the drug offence. It is akko of concern that the seriousness of the offences is mereasing over time.

[140] T also agree with Ms. Stanford that given the number and nature of _
misconduct finding while in jail calls nto question any prospect for any rehabiltation for him as
he now seems entrenched i a criminal lifestyle. Tike the court m Whitaker, 1 find that any hope
for _ rehabilitation ®© generic and based upon his age rather than his demonstrated
behaviour. He has no real prospects for employment. He appears to have no desire to get past his
Grade 9 education. He has no iterest in rehabilitation programs for substance abuse. According
to the PSR, _ didn’t avail himself of any programs or take any high school courses whilk
in custody, although the same could be said of . Although arguably the onus is on the
defendants, and although I would have preferred evidence on this, given the conditions m the
remand centres I am not prepared to conclude that _faﬂed to follow up on programs that
might have been available to him. It s clear, however, that unless he decides to mprove his
education and/or tram for a trade, there s a good likelihood that he will re-offend.

[141] There are, however, some mitigating factors relevant to sentence with respect to Mr.

- consider:

a) -Was only nmeteen at the time of these offences.
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b)  Ms. Kideckel advised that _ mother 1 supportive but her employer would
not let her get time off to attend the sentencing hearng. Mr. Hersis uncle was
present. He, therefore, appears to have some family support.

c) _ was working at a bakery through a temp agency and was bemg called in
frequently before his arrest. He had not been working at this job for very long,

however, and as [ have already said, his employment history s weak.

[142] Although _ cannot be penalized for msistng on his right to a trial and compelling
the Crown to prove the case against him, he does not get the benefit of a reduced sentence
because of a guilty pla. This s a neutral factor.

[143] - did express some remorse to the probation officer about the fact that children
were present when these events occurred but when given the opportunity, he made no such
statement to me. For the reasons already stated, I have concluded that his statement was not
sincere and did not constitute any expression of remorse. I consider this to be a neutral factor as

is enttled to maintan his mnocence although I note that he admitted to the probation
officer that he was in [JJJJJJll home at the time of the robbery.

[144] T have considered the prospect for rehabilitation and agree with Ms. Stanford that it i
weak. [ hawe already referred to my reasons for this conchuision. Owerall my belief i that Mr.

does not appreciate the seriousness of his actions and lacks any motivation to change his
life for the better.

[145] Given the fact that layed a more significant role m the robbery and unlawful
confinement of , given he was mn possession of an mnitation fircarm,
given he does not get the reduction n sentence was entitled to because of his

constructive guilty plea, given his erimmal record, albeit a mmor one, and given my conclusion
that his prospects for rehabiltation are generic only based on his young age,
sentence should necessarily be higher than the sentence that T have imposed on Mr. Brown.

[146] Given my review of the cases, I do not accept Ms. Kideckel’s submission that_
receive a sentence in the upper reformatory range of somethmg less than two years kess a day. On
the other hand however, the position of Ms. Stanford essentially gives no discount to ﬁ
because of his young age and assumes he is a lost cause m terms of rehabilitation. She may be
correct in that regard although I hope that as - matures, he will come to choose a better
life. As Ms. Kideckel pomted out, _ 18 still young and certamly he has the ability, if he
so chooses, to turn his life around.

[147] T have already commented, m my decision with respect to _ on the mportance
of denunciation and general deterrence and the fact that this home mvasion was at the lower end
of the scale of those mvolving firearms, particularly as it was only proven _ and the two
youth offenders had a realistic imitation fircarm.
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[148] The question is: should - be sentenced to what would amount to a pententiary
sentence or should he be spared time in the penttentiary because of his age? I have already
referred to the comments of Justice Durno in the Barnes decision which, in my view, apply with
much more force to _ given his role m the robbery, his lack of remorse and his dmmmer
prospects for rehabilitation.

[149] In summary, although _ is a youthful offender with a relatively mmor crimmal
record, he has not taken any responsibility for his actions, he has expressed no remorse save that
he s sorry children were present and unfortunately his prospects for rchabiltation are weak. In
my view, having considered all of the circumstances, a fit sentence for -1s three and a
half years less a credit for pre-sentence custody. As I will come to, I am not prepared to give Mr.

-enhanced credit.

[150] In coming to this decwion I have also considered how Mr.- sentence for the
robbery compares to _ I conclude that a difference of one year is warranted given the
fact Mr. had a less signfficant role m the robbery, his constructive guity pka and his
prospects for rehabilitation are much stronger.

[151] T turn then to what s a fit sentence for the conviction for threatening _ I agree
with Ms. Stanford that the seriousness of this offence cannot be underestimated. There i a “code
of silence” m neighbourhoods like _ which undercuts law enforcement and
empowers criminals to commit crime. Witnesses are reluctant to come forward because of fear of
retahation. We see this often i our courts. _Was prepared to come forward and say
what happened but these threats were an effort to prevent that. There has to be a clear signal of
denunciation and deterrence that such behaviour will not be tolerated. In my view this can only
be achieved by a consecutive sentence. Accordingly, a consecutive sentence of one year as
proposed by Ms. Stanford is, in my view, a fit sentence for this conviction.

[152] Although not relied upon by counsel I have considered the jump principk since Mr.

longest sentence before these offences was 80 days which he served while m pre-trial
custody on these charges. However, the jump principle has limited application in this case given
the seriousness of these convictions. 1 have also considered the totality principk and have
concluded that a global sentence of four and a half years is not unduly long or harsh or excessive
given Mr. Hersi’s role in these serious offences and his personal crcumstances that I have
already referred to.

[153] Fmally, T appreciate that, at least with respect to the sentence I have mmposed on Mr.
-for the robbery conviction, it is significantly less than the sentence proposed by the Crown
and signfficantly more than the postion taken by his counsel I have given my reasons for why,
notwithstanding Mr.- youth, the sentence I have mposed s fit. I do not accept, however,
the position of Ms. Stanford which would be in my view a crushing sentence that would likely
eliminate any hope for _ rehabilitation.
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Entitlement to Enhanced Credit for Pre-Sentence Custody

[154] Ms. Stanford conceded ﬂlat_should be entitled to enhanced credit at the rate of
1.5 for every day served. Given my understanding of the Court of Appeal’s decisions m R v.
Summers, [2013] O.J. No. 1068 (Ont. C.A) and R. v. Morris, [2013] O.J. No. 1583 (Ont.C.A))
this is a very reasonable concession. In addition to the positive prospects for rehabiltation, Mr.

- has not engaged m any musconduct while n custody. Furthermore, mformation received
from the security unit of the Toronto Jail where i has been from July 23, 2012 to

present demonstrates that he has been triple booked on 40 nights (although always had one of the
bunks) and that he was i the general population with no special hmitations. Although each
inmate is entitled to fresh ar every day, based on yard statistics the general population has only
been able to attend yard an average of five days per month. This is mamly due to staff shortages
and inclement weather. There s no exercise equipment available atthe Toronto Jail.

[155] For all of these reasons I have no difficulty n grantng _ a full credit of 1 to 1:5
for his pre-sentence custody. As already stated, on that basis he is entitled to a credit of 666 days
or about 22.2 months to the date of the sentencing hearing That was eight days ago and so the
total credit for pre-sentence custody is 687 (666+14) days or 22.9 months using the same method
of calculation as Ms. Stanford. 22.9 months is higher than the actual credit for 687 days and, as I

cannot give more than a 1.5 credit enhancement, I find that_ is entitled to pre-sentence
custody credit of 22 months.

[156] Ms. Kideckel submitted that _ should receive enhanced credit of something more
than 1:1 but acknowledged it should be less than 1.5. She asked that he not be re-penalized for
the misconducts m jail as he had received penalties for each of those. Ms. Kideckel asked that I

take the conditions m the Toronto Jail mto account as set out by Justice Green in R v. Johnson,
2011 ONCIJ 77 at paras. 186-187. She submitted in addition that _Was on the unit that
flooded with sewage m the Don Jail in October 2012, which made the news. Although no
evidence of this was presented, Ms. Stanford did not dispute that this mcident occurred and the
officer in charge was able to confirm that Mr. Hersi was personally mpacted. Even if the news
reports are exaggerated, it seems that the mmates affected were severely mpacted and required
to help in the clean up of the mess as part of ther “rehabilitation™.

[157] Although I have no evidence on behalf of -, of the type that I received on behalf
of I [ am prepared to find, since the majority of his time has been spent at the Toronto
Jail that his conditions have been worse than the conditions he would be m if he had already been

sentenced and that given this flood, he has suffered harsh conditions that other mmates at the
Toronto Jail have not.
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[158] As I understand it there is no order pursuant to section 515(9.1) of the Criminal Code that
states that _has been detamed n custody prmarily because of a previous conviction,
which pursuant to section 719(3.1), would preclude any consideration of enhanced credit.
However, Ms. Kideckel conceded that [JJJJlj breached his bail conditions resulting from the
drug offence charge when he was arrested for the offences before the court. Furthermore, m light
of the December 2011 conviction, I note that _Was on probation pursuant to the
suspended sentence at that time. Although I have not been advised that his bail was ever formally
cancelled pursuvant to subsection 524(4) or (8), had that occurred, that would have automatically
precluded any enhanced credit now.

[159] As the Court of Appeal stated n Morris at para. 19, the absence of an order canceling the
prior forms of release does not operate as an absolute bar to_request for enhanced
credt under section 719(3.1). However, I am required to take mto account all of the
circumstances. Although he has suffered some unusual hardship while at the Toronto Jail, these
offences were committed when Mr. Hersi was on a recognizance resultng from the drug charge;
a charge that he ultimately pleaded guilty to. The circumstances before me are certamly
analogous to subsections 524(4) or (8). (see Morris at paras. 15-16) Furthermore, - has
committed eight misconducts while m custody. I have found his prospects for rehabilitation to be
weak.

[160] For these reasons I declne to exercike my discretion m awarding _enhanced
credit. His credit for pre-sentence custody shall be limited to time served; namely 416 (408 + 8)
days or 14 months.

Final Disposition
[161] _Would you please stand.
[162] With respect to your convictions for robbing_ and _contrary to

section 344(1)b) of the Criminal Code, as set out as ncluded offences m Counts # 1 and 2. 1
sentence you to two and a half years (30 months) on each conviction each to run concurrent to

the other.

[163] With respect to your convictions for unlawfully confining _

contrary to section 279(2) of the Criminal Code, as set out m Counts # 3 and 4, I sentence you to
two years (24 months) on each conviction each to run concurrent to the other and to your
sentence on Counts # 1 and 2.

[164] With respect to your sentences on Counts # 1, 2, 3, and 4, you will be credited 22 months

for pre-sentence custody on each count on a 1:1.5 basis. After this credit vou have a sentence of
eight (8) months to serve.
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[165] Once you are released from custody you will be subject to a period of probation for two
years. In addition to the compukory conditions of this probation order, provided for by section
732.1(2) of the Criminal Code, the additional conditions of the order pursvant to s. 732.1(3) of
the Code are as follows:

a)

b)

)

d)

g)

h)

)

k)

Report within 2 working days of your release, in person, to a probation officer and
thereafter when required by the probation officer;

Remam withn the province of Ontario unless written permission to go outside the
Province is obtamed from the court or the probation officer;

Reside with your mother or at an address approved of by the probation officer and
contribute to the cost of mamtaining the household as you are able;

Do not change your address without the prior approval of the probation officer;

Abstan from the purchase, possession or consumption of any drugs, or other
substances prohibtted by law, except in accordance with a medical prescription;

Attend and actively participate in counseling programs or treatment program(s) for
drug addiction or other issues as recommended by your probation officer and sign
releases to monitor comphance as needed;

Make reasonable efforts to complkte your high school diploma and further vour
education or vocational tramng and/or find and mamtain suitable employment
either as an employee or busmess owner and provide progress reports to your
probation officer as drected;

Perform 150 hours of commumity service work. The work is to commence withn
30 days of the date of commencement of your release from custody and shall be
completed at a rate of not less than 10 hours per month n consecutive months and
shall be completed to the satisfaction of your probation officer withn eighteen
months of this Order. You shall provide vour probation officer with proof of
attendance and completion of community service assignments;

Abstan from owning, possessmg or carrying any weapon as defined m the
Criminal Code;

Do not apply for nor possess a firearns acquisition certificate or any other form of
gun license,

Do not have any contact directly or mdirectly with _

, or be withn 100 meters of where they are known by you
to be;
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1) Do not have ani contact with, or be m the COﬁaIly of, or associate With-

m) You are not to have any contact with, or be n the company of, or associate with
anyone known by you to have a crimmal record or who is the subject of crimmal
charges except for members of your family or persons you come into contact with
because of your employment, school or communtty service.

[166] _, a copy of the Probation Order will be given to you by the court officials who
will ensure that the substance of sections 732.2(3), 732.2(5) and 733.1 are explamed to you
regarding the probation order. Please pay very careful attention to all of these conditions. 1 must
tell you that breach of any of these conditions will be taken very seriously by this Court. You
must appreciate that incarceration will likely result if any of the conditions of your probation are
breached. I hope that the terms that I have mposed will brmg home to you the seriousness of

your conduct, and assist you mn remammng a productive and law-abiding member of our
community once you are rekased from custody.

[167] In addition there will be a weapons prohibition order pursuant to subsections 109(1)(a)
and 109(2) of the Criminal Code for life.

[168] In addiion, there will be a DNA order pursuant to section 487.051(3) authorizng the
takng of a DNA sample. The order shall apply to Counts # 1, 2, 3, and 4 which are primary
designated offences.

[169] _Would you please stand.

[170] With respect to your convictions for robbing [ | | il o I <o trary to
section 344(1)b) of the Criminal Code, as set out as ncluded offences n Counts # 1 and 2, 1
sentence you to three and a half vears (42 months) on each conviction each to run concurrent to
the other.

[171] With respect to your comvictions for unlawfully confining ||| G

contrary to section 279(2) of the Criminal Code, as set out m Counts # 3 and 4, I sentence you to

two years (24 months) on each conviction each to run concurrent to the other and to vour
sentence on Courts # 1 and 2.

[172] With respect to your conviction for uttering a threat to [||jjjjjjiij to cavse death to her
contrary to s. 264.1 of the Criminal Code as set out m Count # 8, I sentence you to an additional
12 months to be served consecutively to your sentences on Counts # 1, 2, 3 and 4.

[173] With respect to your sentences on Counts # 1 and 2, you will be credited 14 months for
pre-sentence custody on each count on a 1:1 basis. Afier this credit you have a total sentence of
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28 months to serve on these counts. That means that the total remaming sentence that you must
serve on all counts is 40 months (28 +12).

[174] Pursvant to section 743.21 of the Criminal Code you are prohibited from communicating,
directy or indirectly, with [ . .

custodial period of your sentence.

[175] In addiion there will be a mandatory weapons prohibition order pursuant to subsections
109(1)a) and 109(2) of the Criminal Code for life.

[176] I also make a DNA order pursuant to section 487.051(1)a) authorizng the takmg of a

DNA sample. The order shall apply to Counts # 1, 2, 3, and 4 which are primary designated
offences.

SPIES 1
Released: June 27, 201

Edited Decision Released: July 2, 2013
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